Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Redox Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/redox

Review Article Dietary restriction in cerebral bioenergetics and redox state

Ignacio Amigo, Alicia J. Kowaltowski*

Departamento de Bioquímica, Instituto de Química, Universidade de São Paulo, SP, Brazil

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 30 December 2013 Accepted 30 December 2013 Available online 11 January 2014

Keywords: Caloric restriction Neurological diseases Mitochondria Energy metabolism The brain has a central role in the regulation of energy stability of the organism. It is the organ with the highest energetic demands, the most susceptible to energy deficits, and is responsible for coordinating behavioral and physiological responses related to food foraging and intake. Dietary interventions have been shown to be a very effective means to extend lifespan and delay the appearance of age-related pathological conditions, notably those associated with brain functional decline. The present review focuses on the effects of these interventions on brain metabolism and cerebral redox state, and summarizes the current literature dealing with dietary interventions on brain pathology.

© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction	. 296
Systemic effects of different dietary interventions	. 297
How does dietary restriction affect brain function?	. 299
Dietary restriction in brain pathology	. 300
Stroke	. 300
Alzheimer's disease	. 300
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	. 300
Epilepsy	. 301
Parkinson's disease	. 301
Conclusions	. 301
Acknowledgements	. 301
References	. 302

Introduction

The brain is responsible for a large amount of energy consumption in vertebrate organisms, and especially in primates. Although it accounts for only 2% body weight, it consumes 20%

E-mail address: alicia@iq.usp.br (A.J. Kowaltowski).

of the oxygen and 25% of glucose from these organisms. This energy consumption is required to maintain ionic balance in neurons, produce action potentials, generate post-synaptic currents and recycle neurotransmitters [6]. Since metabolite diffusion from the blood is restricted by the brain-blood barrier, the brain must synthesize its own neuroactive compounds such as glutamate, aspartate, glycine or D-serine from glucose [71]. In addition, neurons are highly susceptible to oxidative damage and glucose oxidation in the pentose phosphate pathway is required to obtain NADPH and regenerate reduced glutathione, which is essential to maintain redox balance in the brain [12]. All these characteristics make the brain highly dependent on glucose and an organ extremely sensitive to energy deficits.

In addition to its high energy expenditure, the brain is also responsible for directly sensing and integrating energetic cues that are sent from peripheral tissues in the form of nutrients and





CrossMark

Abbreviations: AD, Alzheimer's disease; CR, caloric restriction; FR, food restriction; IF, intermittent fasting; KA, kainic acid; MPTP, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine; NOS, nitric oxide synthase; PD, Parkinson's disease; PTZ, pentylenetetrazole; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TCA, tricarboxylic acid cycle

^{*}This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No Derivative Works License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

^{*} Correspondence to: Lineu Prestes, 748, Cidade Universitária, São Paulo, 05508-000, SP, Brazil. Tel.: +55 1130912922.



Fig. 1. The brain as a master regulator of body energy control. The figure represents a simplified scheme of how the brain receives signals from peripheral tissues in the hypothalamus. Orexigenic (AgRP/NPY) and anorexigenic (POMC/CART) neurons in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) of the hypothalamus sense these and other cues, such as circulating blood glucose levels. These signals are further integrated by interaction with other hypothalamic nuclei (LH—lateral hypothalamus; PVN—paraventricular nucleus) and finally project into the areas of the brain involved in the reward system, including the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and the nucleus accumbens in the striatum.

hormones (see Fig. 1), orchestrating physiological and behavioural responses [31]. Therefore, the brain acts as a master regulator for energy balance in the organism, determining food intake and expenditure, at the same time as it is the primary energy consumer of the body and the organ most susceptible to oxidative damage.

Dietary restriction prolongs lifespans in a wide range of organisms, spanning from yeast to rodents. More importantly, animals not only live longer, but their health is improved and the appearance of aging markers delayed [39]. Despite huge interest in the effects of dietary limitation, the causes that underlie these beneficial effects are still incompletely understood, due both to physiological and methodological reasons. Dietary restriction produces large-scale systemic effects, with predicted synergic interactions among tissues. For example, reducing total caloric intake prevents the metabolic syndrome, which in turn is a risk factor for other pathological conditions, such as stroke [41]. Therefore, discriminating between systemic and tissue-specific effects is not always straightforward, hampering the identification of molecular targets or specific pathways involved. Moreover, the relevance of each of these targets or pathways might differ between different pathological conditions. On the other hand, methodological issues hampering the understanding of the effects of restricted diets include the lack of consensus on how to perform dietary restriction. The term "caloric restriction" is often used to describe different diets, including some which don't even limit the amount of calories ingested [21]. As will be detailed below, the latest literature is beginning to unveil important differences between these diets. Interestingly, recent results show that, although the final effects of different diets can sometimes be similar, the pathways and mechanisms involved in these outcomes may not be the same [3,22,67,70]. In addition, important differences arise based on the animal model used, the duration of the diet and the age in which the diet is started.

This review will briefly discuss the effects of different dietary interventions on brain metabolism, redox balance and function, focussing on some of the most important age-related brain pathologies.

Systemic effects of different dietary interventions

Dietary restriction has pleiotropic effects that far exceed simple reduction in body weight. Reducing food intake induces a concomitant decrease in body fat, which in turn affects the levels of circulating adipokines, endocrine molecules produced by the white adipose tissue. Low levels of fat are usually correlated with decreased circulating levels of insulin and leptin, and an increase in adiponectin (see Fig. 1), all of which favour a better regulation of glucose homeostasis [89]. Keeping fat tissue at low levels also favours the production of anti-inflammatory over pro-inflammatory cytokines, with inflammation now being regarded as an important player in the pathogenesis of obesity-related insulin resistance [56]. Inflammatory signals can in turn induce oxidative imbalance and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in many tissues. One of the means to promote oxidative stress by these signals is the stimulation of the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which produces high levels of nitric oxide, facilitating the formation of other reactive oxygen and nitrogen species [17].

Historically, a number of different diets have been referred to under the term "calorie restriction" [21]. In recent years, there has been an increasing awareness of the particular effects of each different dietary intervention and their specific mechanisms are now beginning to be separately unravelled. In the present work, we will focus on the three most prevalent protocols in the literature: intermittent fasting (IF), food restriction (FR) and caloric restriction (CR), and will use the term 'dietary restriction' to refer generically to any of the three.

IF, also known as "every other day feeding", is a dietary protocol in which animals alternately fast and have access to food *ad libitum* every 24 h. Under these conditions, body weight usually decreases, although with 10–20% oscillations between feeding and fasting days [69]. Interestingly, although animals kept on this diet for short periods may eat less than their *ad libitum*-fed counterparts, food intake may be similar after longer periods, due to overeating on feeding days [22]. Consistently with reduced food intake, short periods of IF improve glucose tolerance. However,

after longer periods, insulin resistance is observed in abdominal adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. Redox imbalance is also present in these tissues, with high levels of hydrogen peroxide [22].

Another common way to limit caloric ingestion is to restrict the total amount of food, a protocol that will be referred to here as "food restriction" (FR). In this diet, restricted animals are given an amount of food equal to 60–80% of that eaten by *ad libitum*-fed animals. Rats and mice lose weight and fat and display many beneficial features, such as good peripheral insulin sensitivity

[3,22]. However, FR can lead to malnutrition and low body growth due to low levels of micronutrients such as copper, iron, selenium or magnesium [21], which are essential for redox reactions such as oxidative phosphorylation and ROS scavenging.

When FR is complemented with micronutrients, the diet can legitimately be considered "caloric restriction" (CR), since only calories are limited. Commonly, supplementation is performed by increasing the percentage of micronutrients in the diet to an extent equivalent to the calorie restriction imposed (*i.e.* a 60% micronutrient



Fig. 2. Glucose use in the brain. Glucose is used for multiple functions in the brain. Glycolysis followed by oxidation of acetyl-CoA in the TCA cycle provides reduced equivalents that can be used by mitochondria to synthesize ATP. Alternatively, oxidation through the pentose phosphate pathway provides NADPH, required for the reduction of glutathione, a central anti-oxidant in the brain. Glucose is also required as a precursor to synthesize neurotransmitters, and can be stored to some extent in astrocytes in the form of glycogen. In the absence of glucose, ketone bodies produced in the liver can cross the blood–brain barrier and partially replace glucose as an energy source.

supplemented diet to a 40% calorie restriction). Although the phenotype is very similar to FR (especially when restriction is low or in short-term diets) some differences have been observed after long periods, such as a reduction in the nitration of the insulin receptor in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, indicating lower oxidative damage [22].

How does dietary restriction affect brain function?

Although during fasting ketone bodies produced from fatty acids in the liver can partially replace it, glucose is still required by the brain under these conditions. First, glucose is necessary for the biosynthesis of complex carbohydrates that are components of glycoproteins and glycolipids, amino acids, one-carbon donors for methylation reactions and neurotransmitter synthesis [71]. Second, oxidation of ketone bodies requires activity of the tricarboxylic acid (TCA), since formation of acetoacetyl-CoA from β hydroxybutyrate and acetoacetate is dependent on succinyl-CoA [25], and complete ketone body oxidation requires oxaloacetate to promote TCA cycling. Finally, a significant amount of cerebral glucose is metabolised through the pentose phosphate pathway in order to regenerate reduced cytosolic glutathione via NADPH, and maintain antioxidant activity [11]. In addition, astrocytes, but not neurons, can accumulate glucose in the form of glycogen, which acts as a short-term energetic reservoir in the brain during fasting [16] (Fig. 2).

IE

(8)

DR

(7)

Epilepsy and excitotoxicity

against excitotoxicity

IF (3)

Stroke

Lower infarct size and

improved recovery

DR

(1)



Alzheimer's Disease Decreased β-amyloid accumulation Higher seizure threshold and resistance and tau phosphorylation and improved performance in behavioural tests



Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Early onset of the disease and worsened phenotype in the G93A genetic model, but dealyed onset and extended lifespan in the H46R/H48Q mutant



Parkinson's Disease Increased resistance to MPTP

Fig. 3. Effects of CR, FR and IF on some neurodegenerative conditions. The sizes of the rectangles represent the relative number of publications for each pathology (numbers are in parenthesis), summarized from the following: Anson et al. [3], Armentero et al. [4], Arumugam et al. [5], Azarbar et al. [7], Bhattacharya et al. [10], Bough et al. [13], Bough et al. [14], Bruce-Keller et al. [18], Contestabile et al. [27], Costantini et al. [29], Dhurandar et al. [32], Duan and Mattson [34], Duan et al. [33], Eagles et al. [35], Greene et al. [45], Griffioen et al. [46], Halagappa et al. [48], Hamadeh and Tarnopolsky [49], Hamadeh et al. [50], Hartman et al. [52], Holmer et al. [53], Kumar et al. [58], Lee et al. [58], Liu et al. [62], Mantis et al. [64], Mouton et al. [74], Parinejad et al. [80], Patel et al. [81], Patel et al. [79], Pedersen and Mattson [82], Oin et al. [85], Oin et al. [86], Oiu et al. [88], Wang et al. [98], Wu et al. [99], Yoon et al. [102], Yu and Mattson [103], Zhu et al. [105].

Consistent with these specific energetic demands of the brain, dietary restriction induces a metabolic reprogramming in most peripheral tissues in order to maintain sufficient glucose blood levels. Whereas ad libitum diets favour oxidation of carbohydrates over other energy sources, in dietary restriction fat metabolism is increased [19]. This increase in the use of fatty acids is paralleled by an increase in FADH₂ use by mitochondria, since β -oxidation produces FADH₂ and NADH at the same proportion, while NADH production due to carbohydrate oxidation is five-fold that of FADH₂.

Metabolic adaptions of the brain to dietary restriction are less understood. Nisoli et al. [78] showed that IF could induce mitochondrial biogenesis in several mouse tissues, including brain, through a mechanism that requires eNOS. However, other works using different protocols and/or animal models have provided diverging results. Whereas in brains from mice subjected to CR an increase in mitochondrial proteins and citrate synthase activity has been observed [23], other studies using FR in rats have failed to observe changes in mitochondrial proteins or oxygen consumption in the brain [51,60,93]. Interestingly, an increase in mitochondrial mass has also been observed in cells cultured in the presence of serum from rats subjected to 40% CR or FR, suggesting the existence of a serological factor sufficient to induce mitochondrial biogenesis [23,63].

The idea that mitochondrial biogenesis is stimulated under conditions of low food availability may seem counterintuitive. Indeed, mitochondrial mass normally increases in response to higher metabolic demands, such as exercise in muscle or cold in brown adipose tissue [51]. Different hypotheses have been put forward to explain this apparent discrepancy. Guarente suggested that mitochondrial biogenesis could compensate for metabolic adaptations induced by dietary restriction. In peripheral tissues, more mitochondria would make up for the lower yield in ATP production per reducing equivalent, due to an increase in FADH₂ use relative to NADH [47]. Analogously, in brain the use of ketone bodies also increases the FADH₂/NADH ratio, although to a lesser extent, suggesting that a similar explanation could apply.

How is this metabolic reprogramming induced? In recent years, attention has been given to SIRT1, a protein deacetylase from the sirtuin family. In many tissues, including brain, SIRT1 expression is enhanced in response to dietary restriction, and pharmacological activation of SIRT1, using drugs such as resveratrol, can mimic some of its effects [26]. Since PGC-1 α , the master regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis, is among SIRT1 targets [75], a mechanism was initially suggested whereby SIRT1-mediated deacetylation of PGC-1 α would be responsible for the increase in mitochondrial mass observed in response to SIRT1 activation by resveratrol, a mechanism that could also extend to dietary restriction [59]. However, recent reports using a more specific SIRT1 agonist, SRT1720, have shown contradictory results regarding a direct role for SIRT1 in mitochondrial biogenesis [36,40,72]. Despite this, several observations support the role of SIRT1 as a stimulator of fatty acid oxidation in liver and muscle, and of lipid mobilization in white adipose tissue, indicating that its activation could indeed induce a metabolic reprogramming similar to that observed in dietary restriction [36,84,91]. Similarly, adiponectin, whose levels increase when fat tissue is low, has also been shown to promote fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle and liver [100]. Furthermore, adiponectin knockout mice show increased lipid retention in the liver [104], making this hormone another suitable candidate for the role of metabolic reprogramming mediator.

At the cellular level, starvation stimulates macroautophagy (which will be referred hereafter as "autophagy") in a wide number of tissues. Although nutrient deprivation is a wellknown inducer of autophagy in most tissues and cell types, until recently it was believed that the brain was an exception to this rule [73]. However, recent reports using more sensitive methods indicate that autophagy is indeed induced in primary neuronal cultures [101] and neurons *in vivo* [2] in response to nutrient deprivation. In addition SIRT1, which is highly expressed in rodent brain in response to FR or IF [26,44,96], has been described as an important regulator of autophagy *in vivo*, and overexpression of SIRT1 in cell lines is sufficient to stimulate basal autophagy [61].

Although the classical view of autophagy was that of an unspecific catabolic pathway, it is now common knowledge that autophagy can also act in a more selective way, as in the case of the removal of damaged mitochondria, a process termed mitophagy [43]. Observations in yeast support a preeminent role for mitophagy in the effects of CR in aging [90]. In rats on a FR regimen, an increase in mitophagic markers is observed in kidneys [30] and an improved autophagic response *in vivo* is present in liver [92]. The observation that both mitophagy and mitochondrial biogenesis could be stimulated during dietary restriction suggests an increased mitochondrial turnover, which could be acting as a "quality control" mechanism to provide a healthier pool of these organelles [47].

Dietary restriction in brain pathology

Aging is the most important risk factor for several pathological conditions including cancer, cardiovascular disease and neurode-generation [76]. By extending lifespan, dietary restriction is also able to delay the onset of these age-associated diseases. In the following paragraphs we have summarized the current literature dealing with the effects of dietary restriction on some of the most important brain pathologies (Fig. 3).

Stroke

Stroke is caused by an interruption in the blood supply to the brain which in most cases is due to a blockage of the vessels that irrigate the brain, and specifically in the middle cerebral artery. During ischemia, lack of oxygen impairs oxidative phosphorylation and maintains electron transport chain proteins in a reduced state. Upon reperfusion, oxygen is restored and by interacting with these reduced proteins promotes a burst of ROS production, which mediates injury. In addition, ROS are also generated in the cytoplasm and the plasma membrane by means of xanthine oxidase, NOS and NADPH oxidase [66].

Most systemic changes induced by IF, CR and FR, such as decreasing inflammation and improving glucose metabolism, are potentially favourable against stroke. In addition, both IF and FR have been shown to decrease blood pressure in rats [65]. Hypertensive rats, which are stroke-prone, increase their survival probabilities about 50% when subjected to a 40% FR diet [62]. IF reduces infarct size and improves recovery of both mice [5] and rats [103] subjected to middle cerebral arterial occlusion, a common animal model for human stroke.

In heart, the beneficial effects observed after 30% FR could be related to increased deacetylation of mitochondrial proteins, which in turn decrease ROS formation upon reperfusion [94]. However, the role of SIRT1 in the brain remains unclear since, although SIRT1 knockout animals show larger infarct sizes than wild type mice, these animals can still respond to a 40% FR diet by decreasing both the extent of the infarct volume and the neurological deficit [62]. In addition, NAD⁺ consumption due to SIRT1 activation could be detrimental to stroke outcome [83]. Loss of NAD(H) is has been demonstrated to play a decisive role in post-ischemic neuronal loss [38].

A putative player in this scenario could be adiponectin, It has been shown that adiponectin knockout mice are more susceptible to middle cerebral arterial occlusion and that adenovirusmediated supplementation of adiponectin is protective both in wild type and knockout animals, through a mechanism that requires eNOS [77].

Alzheimer's disease

One of the most common causes of dementia in the elderly is Alzheimer's disease (AD), a pathological condition that comprises both genetic and environmental factors. Autosomal dominant forms, which account for only a small percentage of cases, are linked to mutations in the genes of amyloid precursor protein, presinilin 1 or presenilin 2. Brains from AD patients often present senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles formed by hyper-phosphorylated forms of the microtubule-associated protein tau, along with increased oxidative imbalance and mitochondrial dysfunction [20,97].

Mitochondria from AD patients show characteristic alterations, including reduced complex II and IV activity, and inhibition of enzymes from the TCA cycle such as α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase, leading to impaired ATP production [24]. In addition, calcium homeostasis and permeability transition pore opening suscept-ibility are also affected [28].

Improvement in behavioural tests is observed in different AD mouse models subjected to either IF, CR or FR. While FR and CR also promote a decrease in the presence of beta amyloid and phosphorylated tau in the brain [29,74,81,85,86,98,99], IF could be acting through a different mechanism, since improved outcome occurs in the absence of detectable changes in amyloid peptide deposition [48].

Evidence points to a possible role of SIRT1 in the beneficial effects of CR in AD models. In p25-CK mice, a mouse strain which displays similar features to AD, SIRT1 levels are increased and stimulation of SIRT1 by resveratrol or injection with SIRT1 lentivirus protects against neuronal death [57]. In addition, 30% FR for 3 months further increased SIRT1 concentration in the brain, delayed the onset of the disease and maintained synaptic function [44]. Increasing SIRT1 levels or activating SIRT1 pharmacologically with NAD⁺ *in vitro* has also be shown to increase α -secretase activity and decrease β -amyloid deposition in primary neuronal cultures from Tg2576 mice, another AD mouse model [85].

Interestingly, a link between AD and type 2 diabetes has been recently suggested, since both situations could share a common inflammatory origin [37]. In this context, the benefits of dietary restriction would not be restricted to direct effects on the brain, but would also extend to indirect effects due to improved insulin response.

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is the most prevalent motor neuron disease. The etiology is complex, with 5–10% of the cases related to autosomal mutations, of which 15–20% are in the superoxide dismutase 1 gene. Sporadic ALS has poorly understood environmental causes (reviewed in [42]).

Contrary to other pathologies, and despite the fact that dietary restriction reduces oxidative imbalance, which is believed to be a main cause in ALS progression, the benefits of dietary restriction in ALS are far from clear. In a study using mice that overexpress a G93A mutation in the superoxide dismutase 1 gene, a common genetic model to study ALS, long-term 40% CR hastened the onset of the disease [50,79]. Transient (13–15 days) CR followed by *ad libitum* feeding also hastened disease development in males, while females remained unaffected by the diet [49]. In the same model, IF was also ineffective in delaying the onset of the disease and detrimental for disease progression [82]. However, a delay in the appearence of pathological traits and extended lifespan has been observed following 40% FR in another ALS genetic model, mutant H46R/H48Q mice, which harbour a different mutation in

the superoxide dismutase 1 gene [10]. These results suggest that the progression of the pathology is different in these two models, and indicate that too little is known to predict what results would be expected with the use of dietary restriction in human ALS.

Epilepsy

Epilepsy is a term used to describe a variety of disorders which can arise from different causes, characterised by the appearance of spontaneous and recurrent seizures. Although the etiology is not clear, oxidative imbalance and mitochondrial dysfunction are believed to be possible mediators of epileptogenesis [1].

Epilepsy is studied in rodents using convulsive drugs such as pentylenetetrazole (PTZ) or kainic acid (KA), or by electrical stimulation, which induces seizures and damage in the CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus. Early dietary treatments of epilepsy showed that a ketogenic diet, which has high fat and low carbohydrate content, was effective in reducing seizures (for a historical review see [8]). By using fat over carbohydrates, the ketogenic diet promotes the formation of ketone bodies in the liver which, unlike fatty acids, are able to cross the blood–brain barrier and used in the brain as an alternative to glucose (see Fig. 2). Thus, ketones have been identified as putative mediators of the ketogenic diet effect.

Since the ketogenic diet itself has fewer calories than a normal diet, it is plausible that some of its effects could be due to restricting the amount of calories ingested. Supporting this hypothesis, dietary restriction can partially mimic the ketogenic diet in the context of epilepsy. Both IF and FR have been shown to reduce the extent of cell death in the hippocampus following KA injection [3,18,27]. The higher efficacy of IF over FR observed in one of these works was correlated with the higher levels of β -hydroxybutyrate, specifically increased in IF.

As for seizure appearance, FR as low as 10% is sufficient to greatly increase the threshold to the toxin PTZ. Although this effect was somewhat lower than with an isocaloric ketogenic diet, it occurred in the absence of a noticeable increase in the concentration of β hydroxybutyrate, suggesting that the increase in circulating ketone bodies could be less important in the development of seizures than originally thought [13]. More insight was obtained in a recent work in which the effects of short-term IF, FR and the ketogenic diets in response to different epileptogenic stimuli in Swiss mice was studied. When seizures were induced by 6 Hz treatment, the ketogenic diet was protective, while both IF and FR increased seizure activity. However, when seizures were induced by KA administration, IF, but not the ketogenic diet, was protective (DR was not assayed in this test). In a third test, the maximal electroshock test, where a sine wave pulse is delivered rather than the square waved pulse used in the 6 Hz test, IF showed a lower threshold than AL, and the ketogenic diet showed no effect. Finally, IF was also shown to be ineffective against PTZ. Moreover, the authors failed to see a correlation between the levels of glucose or circulating ketones with seizure susceptibility [52].

Interestingly, it has been reported that pre-treatment with adiponectin protects cultured hippocampal neurons against KAinduced excitotoxicity [87]. Protection has been also observed *in vivo* using intracerebroventricular administration of adiponectin, followed by subcutaneous injection of KA, which resulted in decreased cell death in the hippocampus [55]. Although seizures were not evaluated in this latter work, these observations pinpoint adiponectin as a possible mediator of some of the effects of dietary restriction in KA-induced neuronal damage.

Parkinson's disease

Another well-known neurodegenerative condition is Parkinson's disease (PD), which causes progressive motor dysfunction due to selective loss of dopaminergic neurons from the *substantia* *nigra* that project to the *striatum*. In addition, accumulation of Lewy bodies containing aggregated proteins such as α -synuclein, increased inflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative imbalance are all common features observed [54].

Mitochondrial alterations in PD include increased mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening, loss of NAD, defective mitochondrial dynamics and impaired clearance of damaged mitochondria, leading to accumulation of mitochondrial DNA mutations and high ROS levels. PD-linked mutations in genes that codify for mitochondrial proteins include PINK1, parkin, and LRRK2 [95,24].

Several models are used to study PD, including α -synuclein mutant mice, which develop a degenerative condition similar to PD in humans, and administration of rotenone or 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), which induce a parkinsonian phenotype by impairing mitochondrial complex I activity [15].

Mice on an IF diet are protected against neuronal loss in the *substantia nigra* and show improved motor function after MPTP administration [34]. The same diet has shown beneficial effects even when started after MPTP administration, decreasing the extracellular levels of striatal glutamate [53]. In addition, reports indicate that IF can alleviate some of the collateral effects of PD, such as the elevated heart rate in a mouse model of α -synuclein accumulation [46] and the high levels of circulating corticosterone, which are detrimental for neuronal viability and plasticity [88]. However, the same diet was ineffective in rats against nigrostriatal degeneration induced by 6-hydroxydopamine, an alternative model for PD [4]. Interestingly, a study carried out in primates indicates that a 30% CR diet prior to MPTP administration increases the level of neurotrophic factors in the brain, improves motor activity and reduces the loss of dopamine and its related metabolites [68].

Recent evidence indicates that the gastrointestinal system could play a noted role in the development of PD and that the orexigenic signal ghrelin, which is produced in the stomach in response to fasting and whose levels are increased during dietary restriction, could be neuroprotective [9].

Conclusions

The special metabolic requirements of the brain, along with its fundamental role in managing energy homeostasis of the organism, make this organ a primary target of dietary interventions. The cellular adaptations of neurons and astrocytes under these conditions are still poorly understood, but probably involve changes in mitochondrial function and metabolic reprogramming, and take place in a coordinated manner with alterations in other organs, including a lower use of carbohydrates, mobilization of fat reservoirs and changes in levels of circulating hormones that regulate energy use and inflammation.

Despite a lack of knowledge regarding its molecular mediators, the effects of dietary restriction in the context of brain pathology are remarkable. Importantly, the effects are usually not only restricted to preventing the onset of these conditions, but they also delay development once started or promote faster recovery. In the search for the mechanisms through which dietary restriction acts, special attention must be given to situations where interventions have proven to be inefficient or even detrimental, such as ALS. The identification of singularities in these models may provide important clues as to how these diets operate. Detailed and unified protocols are also vital in this pursuit.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa no Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia (INCT) de Processos Redox em Biomedicina, Núcleo de Apoio à Pesquisa (NAP) de Processos Redox em Biomedicina and Centro de Pesquisa, Inovação e Difusão (CEPID) de Processos Redox em Biomedicina. IA is a postdoctoral researcher supported by a FAPESP fellowship.

References

- [1] C.C.T. Aguiar, A.B. Almeida, P.V.P. Araújo, R.N.D.C. de Abreu, E.M.C. Chaves, O. C. do Vale, D.S. Macêdo, D.J. Woods, M.M.D.F. Fonteles, S.M.M. Vasconcelos, Oxidative stress and epilepsy: literature review, Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. (2012) 795259 (2012).
- [2] M. Alirezaei, C.C. Kemball, C.T. Flynn, M.R. Wood, J.L. Whitton, W.B. Kiosses, Short-term fasting induces profound neuronal autophagy, Autophagy 6 (2010) 702–710.
- [3] R.M. Anson, Z. Guo, R. de Cabo, T. Iyun, M. Rios, A. Hagepanos, D.K. Ingram, M. A. Lane, M.P Mattson, Intermittent fasting dissociates beneficial effects of dietary restriction on glucose metabolism and neuronal resistance to injury from calorie intake, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100 (2003) 6216–6220.
- [4] M.T. Armentero, G. Levandis, P. Bramanti, G. Nappi, F. Blandini, Dietary restriction does not prevent nigrostriatal degeneration in the 6-hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease, Exp. Neurol. 212 (2008) 548–551.
- [5] T.V. Arumugam, T.M. Phillips, A. Cheng, C.H. Morrell, M.P. Mattson, R. Wan, Age and energy intake interact to modify cell stress pathways and stroke outcome, Ann. Neurol. 67 (2010) 41–52.
- [6] D. Attwell, S.B. Laughlin, An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab 21 (2001) 1133-1145.
- [7] A. Azarbar, D.C. McIntyre, K.L. Gilby, Caloric restriction alters seizure disposition and behavioral profiles in seizure-prone (fast) versus seizureresistant (slow) rats, Behav. Neurosci. 124 (2010) 106–114.
- [8] E.E. Bailey, H.H. Pfeifer, E.A. Thiele, The use of diet in the treatment of epilepsy, Epilepsy Behav. 6 (2005) 4–8.
- [9] J.A. Bayliss, Z.B. Andrews, Ghrelin is neuroprotective in Parkinson's disease: molecular mechanisms of metabolic neuroprotection, Ther. Adv. Endocrinol. Metab. 4 (2013) 25–36.
- [10] A. Bhattacharya, A. Bokov, F.L. Muller, A.L. Jernigan, K. Maslin, V. Diaz, A. Richardson, H. Van Remmen, Dietary restriction but not rapamycin extends disease onset and survival of the H46R/H48Q mouse model of ALS, Neurobiol. Aging 33 (2012) 1829–1832.
- [11] J.P. Bolaños, A. Almeida, The pentose-phosphate pathway in neuronal survival against nitrosative stress, IUBMB Life 62 (2010) 14–18.
- [12] J.P. Bolaños, S. Fernandez Fernandez, A. Almeida, Antioxidant and bioenergetic coupling between neurons and astrocytes, Biochem. J. 443 (2012) 3–11.
- [13] K.J. Bough, R. Valiyil, F.T. Han, D.A. Eagles, Seizure resistance is dependent upon age and calorie restriction in rats fed a ketogenic diet, Epilepsy Res. 35 (1999) 21–28.
- [14] K.J. Bough, P.A. Schwartzkroin, J.M. Rho, Calorie restriction and ketogenic diet diminish neuronal excitability in rat dentate gyrus *in vivo*, Epilepsia 44 (2003) 752–760.
- [15] J. Bové, C. Perier, Neurotoxin-based models of Parkinson's disease, Neuroscience 211 (2012) 51–76.
- [16] A.M. Brown, Brain glycogen re-awakened, J. Neurochem. 89 (2004) 537-552.
- [17] G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide and neuronal death, Nitric Oxide 23 (2010) 153-165.
- [18] A.J. Bruce-Keller, G. Umberger, R. McFall, M.P. Mattson, Food restriction reduces brain damage and improves behavioral outcome following excitotoxic and metabolic insults, Ann. Neurol. 45 (1999) 8–15.
- [19] M.D. Bruss, C.F. Khambatta, M.A. Ruby, I. Aggarwal, M.K. Hellerstein, Calorie restriction increases fatty acid synthesis and whole body fat oxidation rates, Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 298 (2010) E108–E116.
- [20] G.L. Caldeira, I.L. Ferreira, A.C. Rego, Impaired transcription in Alzheimer's disease: key role in mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress, J. Alzheimers Dis. 34 (2013) 115–131.
- [21] F.M. Cerqueira, A.J. Kowaltowski, Commonly adopted caloric restriction protocols often involve malnutrition, Ageing Res. Rev. 9 (2010) 424–430.
- [22] F.M. Cerqueira, F.M. da Cunha, C.C. Caldeira da Silva, B. Chausse, R.L. Romano, C.C.M. Garcia, P. Colepicolo, M.H.G. Medeiros, A.J. Kowaltowski, Long-term intermittent feeding, but not caloric restriction, leads to redox imbalance, insulin receptor nitration, and glucose intolerance, Free Radical Biol. Med. 51 (2011) 1454–1460.
- [23] F.M. Cerqueira, F.M. Cunha, F.R.M. Laurindo, A.J. Kowaltowski, Calorie restriction increases cerebral mitochondrial respiratory capacity in a NO-mediated mechanism: impact on neuronal survival, Free Radical Biol. Med. 52 (2012) 1236–1241.
- [24] R.K. Chaturvedi, M. Flint Beal, Mitochondrial diseases of the brain, Free Radical Biol. Med. 63 (2013) 1–29.
- [25] D.D. Clarke, L. Sokoloff, Substrates of Cerebral Metabolism (1999) (Lippincott-Raven).
- [26] H.Y. Cohen, C. Miller, K.J. Bitterman, N.R. Wall, B. Hekking, B. Kessler, K. T. Howitz, M. Gorospe, R. de Cabo, D.A. Sinclair, Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the SIRT1 deacetylase, Science 305 (2004) 390–392.

- [27] A. Contestabile, E. Ciani, A. Contestabile, Dietary restriction differentially protects from neurodegeneration in animal models of excitotoxicity, Brain Res. 1002 (2004) 162–166.
- [28] L. Contreras, I. Drago, E. Zampese, T. Pozzan, Mitochondria: the calcium connection, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1797 (2010) 607–618.
- [29] C. Costantini, R. Weindruch, G. Della Valle, L. Puglielli, A TrkA-to-p75NTR molecular switch activates amyloid beta-peptide generation during aging, Biochem. J. 391 (2005) 59–67.
- [30] J. Cui, S. Shi, X. Sun, G. Cai, S. Cui, Q. Hong, X. Chen, X.-Y. Bai, Mitochondrial autophagy involving renal injury and aging is modulated by caloric intake in aged rat kidneys, PLoS One 8 (2013) e69720.
- [31] W.S. Dhillo, Appetite regulation: an overview, Thyroid 17 (2007) 433-445.
- [32] E.J. Dhurandhar, D.B. Allison, T. vanGroen, I. Kadish, Hunger in the absence of caloric restriction improves cognition and attenuates Alzheimer's disease pathology in a mouse model, PLoS One 8 (4) (2013) e60437, http://dx.doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060437. Epub 2013 Apr 2.
- [33] W. Duan, J. Lee, Z. Guo, MP. Mattson, Dietary restriction stimulates BDNF production in the brain and thereby protects neurons against excitotoxic injury, J Mol Neurosci. 16 (1) (2001) 1–12.
- [34] W. Duan, M.P. Mattson, Dietary restriction and 2-deoxyglucose administration improve behavioral outcome and reduce degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in models of Parkinson's disease, J. Neurosci. Res. 206 (1999) 195–206.
- [35] D.A. Eagles, S.J. Boyd, A. Kotak, F. Allan, Calorie restriction of a highcarbohydrate diet elevates the threshold of PTZ-induced seizures to values equal to those seen with a ketogenic diet, Epilepsy Res. 54 (2003) 41–52.
- [36] J.N. Feige, M. Lagouge, C. Canto, A. Strehle, S.M. Houten, J.C. Milne, P. D. Lambert, C. Mataki, P.J. Elliott, J. Auwerx, Specific SIRT1 activation mimics low energy levels and protects against diet-induced metabolic disorders by enhancing fat oxidation, Cell Metab. 8 (2008) 347–358.
- [37] F.G. De Felice, Alzheimer's disease and insulin resistance: translating basic science into clinical applications, J. Clin. Invest. 123 (2013) 531–539.
- [38] G. Fiskum, C.A. Danilov, Z. Mehrabian, L.L. Bambrick, T. Kristian, M. C. McKenna, I. Hopkins, E.M. Richards, R.E. Rosenthal, Postischemic oxidative stress promotes mitochondrial metabolic failure in neurons and astrocytes, Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1147 (2008) 129–138.
- [39] L. Fontana, L. Partridge, V.D. Longo, Extending healthy life span—from yeast to humans, Science 328 (2010) 321–326.
- [40] J.A. Funk, S. Odejinmi, R.G. Schnellmann, SRT1720 induces mitochondrial biogenesis and rescues mitochondrial function after oxidant injury in renal proximal tubule cells, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 333 (2010) 593–601.
- [41] A.S. Go, D. Mozaffarian, V.L. Roger, E.J. Benjamin, J.D. Berry, W.B. Borden, D. M. Bravata, S. Dai, E.S. Ford, C.S. Fox, S. Franco, H.J. Fullerton, C. Gillespie, S. M. Hailpern, J.A. Heit, V.J. Howard, M.D. Huffman, B.M. Kissela, S.J. Kittner, D. T. Lackland, J.H. Lichtman, L.D. Lisabeth, D. Magid, G.M. Marcus, A. Marelli, D. B. Matchar, D.K. McGuire, E.R. Mohler, C.S. Moy, M.E. Mussolino, G. Nichol, N. P. Paynter, P.J. Schreiner, P.D. Sorlie, J. Stein, T.N. Turan, S.S. Virani, N.D. Wong, D. Woo, M.B. Turner, Heart disease and stroke statistics-2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association, Circulation 127 (2013) e6–e245.
- [42] P.H. Gordon, The range and clinical impact of cognitive impairment in French patients with ALS: a cross-sectional study of neuropsychological test performance, Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. 25 (2011) 1–15.
- [43] R.A. Gottlieb, R.S. Carreira, Autophagy in health and disease. 5. Mitophagy as a way of life, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol 299 (2010) C203–C210.
- [44] J. Gräff, M. Kahn, A. Samiei, J. Gao, K.T. Ota, D. Rei, L.-H. Tsai, A dietary regimen of caloric restriction or pharmacological activation of SIRT1 to delay the onset of neurodegeneration, J. Neurosci. 33 (2013) 8951–8960.
- [45] A.E. Greene, M.T. Todorova, R. McGowan, TN. Seyfried, Caloric restriction inhibits seizure susceptibility in epileptic EL mice by reducing blood glucose, Epilepsia. 42 (11) (2001) 1371–1378.
- [46] K.J. Griffioen, S.M. Rothman, B. Ladenheim, R. Wan, N. Vranis, E. Hutchison, E. Okun, J.L. Cadet, M.P. Mattson, Dietary energy intake modifies brainstem autonomic dysfunction caused by mutant α-synuclein, Neurobiol. Aging 34 (2013) 928–935.
- [47] L. Guarente, Mitochondria–A nexus for aging, calorie restriction, and sirtuins? Cell 132 (2008) 171–176.
- [48] V.K.M. Halagappa, Z. Guo, M. Pearson, Y. Matsuoka, R.G. Cutler, F.M. Laferla, M.P. Mattson, Intermittent fasting and caloric restriction ameliorate agerelated behavioral deficits in the triple-transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, Neurobiol. Dis. 26 (2007) 212–220.
- [49] M.J. Hamadeh, M.A. Tarnopolsky, Transient caloric restriction in early adulthood hastens disease endpoint in male, but not female, Cu/Zn-SOD mutant G93A mice, Muscle Nerve 34 (2006) 709–719.
- [50] M.J. Hamadeh, M.C. Rodriguez, J.J. Kaczor, M.A. Tarnopolsky, Caloric restriction transiently improves motor performance but hastens clinical onset of disease in the Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase mutant G93A mouse, Muscle Nerve 31 (2005) 214–220.
- [51] C.R. Hancock, D.-H. Han, K. Higashida, S.H. Kim, J.O. Holloszy, Does calorie restriction induce mitochondrial biogenesis? A reevaluation, FASEB J. 25 (2011) 785–791.
- [52] A.L. Hartman, X. Zheng, E. Bergbower, M. Kennedy, J.M. Hardwick, Seizure tests distinguish intermittent fasting from the ketogenic diet, Epilepsia 51 (2010) 1395–1402.
- [53] H.K. Holmer, M. Keyghobadi, C. Moore, R.A. Menashe, C.K. Meshul, Dietary restriction affects striatal glutamate in the MPTP-induced mouse model of nigrostriatal degeneration, Synapse 57 (2005) 100–112.

- [54] J. Jankovic, Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 79 (2008) 368–376.
- [55] B.T. Jeon, H.J. Shin, J.B. Kim, Y.K. Kim, D.H. Lee, K.H. Kim, H.J. Kim, S.S. Kang, G. J. Cho, W.S. Choi, G.S. Roh, Adiponectin protects hippocampal neurons against kainic acid-induced excitotoxicity, Brain Res. Rev. 61 (2009) 81–88.
- [56] N. Khansari, Y. Shakiba, M. Mahmoudi, Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress as a major cause of age-related diseases and cancer, Recent Pat. Inflamm. Allergy Drug Discov 3 (2009) 73–80.
- [57] D. Kim, M.D. Nguyen, M.M. Dobbin, A. Fischer, F. Sananbenesi, J.T. Rodgers, I. Delalle, J. a Baur, G. Sui, S.M. Armour, P. Puigserver, D.A. Sinclair, L.H. Tsai, SIRT1 deacetylase protects against neurodegeneration in models for Alzheimer's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, EMBO J. 26 (2007) 3169–3179.
- [58] S. Kumar, J. Parkash, H. Kataria, G. Kaur, Interactive effect of excitotoxic injury and dietary restriction on neurogenesis and neurotrophic factors in adult male rat brain, Neurosci. Res. 65 (2009) 367–374.
- [59] M. Lagouge, C. Argmann, Z. Gerhart-Hines, H. Meziane, C. Lerin, F. Daussin, N. Messadeq, J. Milne, P. Lambert, P. Elliott, B. Geny, M. Laakso, P. Puigserver, J. Auwerx, Resveratrol improves mitochondrial function and protects against metabolic disease by activating SIRT1 and PGC-1alpha, Cell 127 (2006) 1109–1122.
- [60] A.J. Lambert, B. Wang, J. Yardley, J. Edwards, B.J. Merry, The effect of aging and caloric restriction on mitochondrial protein density and oxygen consumption, Exp. Gerontol. 39 (2004) 289–295.
- [61] I.H. Lee, L. Cao, R. Mostoslavsky, D.B. Lombard, J. Liu, N.E. Bruns, M. Tsokos, F.W. Alt, T. Finkel, A role for the NAD-dependent deacetylase Sirt1 in the regulation of autophagy, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (2008) 3374–3379.
- [62] A.-J. Liu, J.-M. Guo, W. Liu, F.-Y. Su, Q.-W. Zhai, J.L. Mehta, W.-Z. Wang, D.-F. Su, Involvement of arterial baroreflex in the protective effect of dietary restriction against stroke, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 33 (2013) 906–913.
- [63] G. López-Lluch, N. Hunt, B. Jones, M. Zhu, H. Jamieson, S. Hilmer, M. V Cascajo, J. Allard, D.K. Ingram, P. Navas, R. de Cabo, Calorie restriction induces mitochondrial biogenesis and bioenergetic efficiency, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103 (2006) 1768–1773.
- [64] J.G. Mantis, N.A. Centeno, M.T. Todorova, R. McGowan, TN. Seyfried, Management of multifactorial idiopathic epilepsy in EL mice with caloric restriction and the ketogenic diet: role of glucose and ketone bodies, Nutr Metab (Lond). 1 (1) (2004) 11.
- [65] D. Mager, R. Wan, M. Brown, A. Cheng, Caloric restriction and intermittent fasting alter spectral measures of heart rate and blood pressure variability in rats, FASEB J. 20 (2006) 631–637.
- [66] S. Manzanero, T. Santro, T.V. Arumugam, Neuronal oxidative stress in acute ischemic stroke: sources and contribution to cell injury, Neurochem. Int. 62 (2013) 712–718.
- [67] B. Martin, M. Pearson, R. Brenneman, E. Golden, A. Keselman, T. Iyun, O. D. Carlson, J.M. Egan, K.G. Becker, W. Wood, V. Prabhu, R. de Cabo, S. Maudsley, M.P. Mattson, Conserved and differential effects of dietary energy intake on the hippocampal transcriptomes of females and males, PLoS One 3 (2008) e2398.
- [68] N. Maswood, J. Young, E. Tilmont, Z. Zhang, D.M. Gash, G.A. Gerhardt, R. Grondin, G.S. Roth, J. Mattison, M.A. Lane, R.E. Carson, R.M. Cohen, P. R. Mouton, C. Quigley, M.P. Mattson, D.K. Ingram, Caloric restriction increases neurotrophic factor levels and attenuates neurochemical and behavioral deficits in a primate model of Parkinson's disease, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (2004) 18171–18176.
- [69] M.P. Mattson, Energy intake, meal frequency, and health: a neurobiological perspective, Annu. Rev. Nutr. 25 (2005) 237–260.
- [70] M.P. Mattson, R. Wan, Beneficial effects of intermittent fasting and caloric restriction on the cardiovascular and cerebrovascular systems, J. Nutr. Biochem 16 (2005) 129–137.
- [71] P. Mergenthaler, U. Lindauer, G.A. Dienel, A. Meisel, Sugar for the brain: the role of glucose in physiological and pathological brain function, Trends Neurosci. 36 (2013) 587–597.
- [72] J.C. Milne, P.D. Lambert, S. Schenk, D.P. Carney, J.J. Smith, D.J. Gagne, L. Jin, O. Boss, R.B. Perni, C.B. Vu, J.E. Bemis, R. Xie, J.S. Disch, P.Y. Ng, J.J. Nunes, A. V. Lynch, H. Yang, H. Galonek, K. Israelian, W. Choy, A. Iffland, S. Lavu, O. Medvedik, D.A. Sinclair, J.M. Olefsky, M.R. Jirousek, P.J. Elliott, C. H. Westphal, Small molecule activators of SIRT1 as therapeutics for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, Nature 450 (2007) 712–716.
- [73] N. Mizushima, A. Yamamoto, M. Matsui, T. Yoshimori, Y. Ohsumi, *In vivo* analysis of autophagy in response to nutrient starvation using transgenic mice expressing a fluorescent autophagosome marker, Mol. Biol. Cell 15 (2004) 1101–1111.
- [74] P.R. Mouton, M.E. Chachich, C. Quigley, E. Spangler, D.K. Ingram, Caloric restriction attenuates amyloid deposition in middle-aged dtg APP/PS1 mice, Neurosci. Lett. 464 (2009) 184–187.
- [75] S. Nemoto, M.M. Fergusson, T. Finkel, SIRT1 functionally interacts with the metabolic regulator and transcriptional coactivator PGC-1alpha, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 16456–16460.
- [76] T. Niccoli, L. Partridge, Ageing as a risk factor for disease, Curr. Biol. 22 (2012) R741–R752.
- [77] M. Nishimura, Y. Izumiya, A. Higuchi, R. Shibata, J. Qiu, C. Kudo, H.K. Shin, M. A. Moskowitz, N. Ouchi, Adiponectin prevents cerebral ischemic injury through endothelial nitric oxide synthase dependent mechanisms, Circulation 117 (2008) 216–223.

- [78] E. Nisoli, C. Tonello, A. Cardile, V. Cozzi, R. Bracale, L. Tedesco, S. Falcone, A. Valerio, O. Cantoni, E. Clementi, S. Moncada, M.O. Carruba, Calorie restriction promotes mitochondrial biogenesis by inducing the expression of eNOS, Science 310 (2005) 314–317.
- [79] B.P. Patel, A. Safdar, S. Raha, M.A. Tarnopolsky, M.J. Hamadeh, Caloric restriction shortens lifespan through an increase in lipid peroxidation, inflammation and apoptosis in the G93A mouse, an animal model of ALS, PLoS One 5 (2010) e9386.
- [80] N. Parinejad, S. Keshavarzi, M. Movahedin, M. Raza, Behavioral and histological assessment of the effect of intermittent feeding in the pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy, Epilepsy Res. 86 (1) (2009) 54–65, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.05.003. Epub 2009 Jun 7.
- [81] N. V Patel, M.N. Gordon, K.E. Connor, R.A. Good, R.W. Engelman, J. Mason, D. G. Morgan, T.E. Morgan, C.E. Finch, Caloric restriction attenuates Abetadeposition in Alzheimer transgenic models, Neurobiol. Aging 26 (2005) 995–1000.
- [82] W.A. Pedersen, M.P. Mattson, No benefit of dietary restriction on disease onset or progression in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase mutant mice, Brain Res. 833 (1999) 117–120.
- [83] V. Petegnief, A.M. Planas, SIRT1 Regulation Modulates Stroke Outcome, Transl. Stroke Res 4 (2013) 663–671.
- [84] F. Picard, M. Kurtev, N. Chung, A. Topark-Ngarm, T. Senawong, R. Machado De Oliveira, M. Leid, M.W. McBurney, L. Guarente, Sirt1 promotes fat mobilization in white adipocytes by repressing PPAR-gamma, Nature 429 (2004) 771–776.
- [85] W. Qin, T. Yang, L. Ho, Z. Zhao, J. Wang, L. Chen, W. Zhao, M. Thiyagarajan, D. MacGrogan, J.T. Rodgers, P. Puigserver, J. Sadoshima, H. Deng, S. Pedrini, S. Gandy, A.A. Sauve, G.M. Pasinetti, Neuronal SIRT1 activation as a novel mechanism underlying the prevention of Alzheimer disease amyloid neuropathology by calorie restriction, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 21745–21754.
- [86] W. Qin, W. Zhao, L. Ho, J. Wang, K. Walsh, S. Gandy, G.M. Pasinetti, Regulation of forkhead transcription factor FoxO3a contributes to calorie restriction-induced prevention of Alzheimer's disease-type amyloid neuropathology and spatial memory deterioration, Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci 1147 (2008) 335–347.
- [87] G. Qiu, R. Wan, J. Hu, M.P. Mattson, E. Spangler, S. Liu, S.-Y. Yau, T.M.C. Lee, M. Gleichmann, D.K. Ingram, K.F. So, S. Zou, Adiponectin protects rat hippocampal neurons against excitotoxicity, Age 33 (2011) 155–165.
- [88] G. Qiu, E.L. Spangler, R. Wan, M. Miller, M.P. Mattson, K.-F. So, R. de Cabo, S. Zou, D.K. Ingram, Neuroprotection provided by dietary restriction in rats is further enhanced by reducing glucocortocoids, Neurobiol. Aging 33 (2012) 2398–2410.
- [89] K. Rabe, M. Lehrke, K.G. Parhofer, U.C. Broedl, Adipokines and insulin resistance, Mol. Med. 14 (2008) 741–751.
- [90] V.R. Richard, A. Leonov, A. Beach, M.T. Burstein, O. Koupaki, A. Gomez-Perez, S. Levy, L. Pluska, S. Mattie, R. Rafesh, T. Iouk, S. Sheibani, M. Greenwood, H. Vali, V.I. Titorenko, Macromitophagy is a longevity assurance process that in chronologically aging yeast limited in calorie supply sustains functional mitochondria and maintains cellular lipid homeostasis, Aging (Albany, NY) 5 (2013) 234–269.
- [91] J.T. Rodgers, P. Puigserver, Fasting-dependent glucose and lipid metabolic response through hepatic sirtuin 1, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104 (2007) 12861–12866.
- [92] A. Del Roso, S. Vittorini, G. Cavallini, A. Donati, Z. Gori, M. Masini, M. Pollera, E. Bergamini, Ageing-related changes in the *in vivo* function of rat liver macroautophagy and proteolysis, Exp. Gerontol. 38 (2003) 519–527.
- [93] A. Sanz, P. Caro, J. Ibañez, J. Gómez, R. Gredilla, G. Barja, Dietary restriction at old age lowers mitochondrial oxygen radical production and leak at complex I and oxidative DNA damage in rat brain, J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 37 (2005) 83–90.
- [94] K. Shinmura, K. Tamaki, M. Sano, N. Nakashima-Kamimura, A.M. Wolf, T. Amo, S. Ohta, Y. Katsumata, K. Fukuda, K. Ishiwata, M. Suematsu, T. Adachi, Caloric restriction primes mitochondria for ischemic stress by deacetylating specific mitochondrial proteins of the electron transport chain, Circ. Res. 109 (2011) 396–406.
- [95] L. Soane, S. Kahraman, T. Kristian, G. Fiskum, Mechanisms of impaired mitochondrial energy metabolism in acute and chronic neurodegenerative disorders, J. Neurosci. Res. 85 (2007) 3407–3415.
- [96] M. Tajes, J. Gutierrez-Cuesta, J. Folch, D. Ortuño-Sahagun, E. Verdaguer, A. Jiménez, F. Junyent, A. Lau, A. Camins, M. Pallàs, Neuroprotective role of intermittent fasting in senescence-accelerated mice P8 (SAMP8), Exp. Gerontol. 45 (2010) 702–710.
- [97] G. Waldemar, B. Dubois, M. Emre, J. Georges, I.G. McKeith, M. Rossor, P. Scheltens, P. Tariska, B. Winblad, Recommendations for the diagnosis and management of Alzheimer's disease and other disorders associated with dementia: EFNS guideline, Eur. J. Neurol. 14 (2007) e1–26.
- [98] J. Wang, L. Ho, W. Qin, A.B. Rocher, I. Seror, N. Humala, K. Maniar, G. Dolios, R. Wang, P.R. Hof, G.M. Pasinetti, Caloric restriction attenuates beta-amyloid neuropathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, FASEB J. 19 (2005) 659–661.
- [99] P. Wu, Q. Shen, S. Dong, Z. Xu, J.Z. Tsien, Y. Hu, Calorie restriction ameliorates neurodegenerative phenotypes in forebrain-specific presenilin-1 and presenilin-2 double knockout mice, Neurobiol. Aging 29 (2008) 1502–1511.
- [100] T. Yamauchi, J. Kamon, Y. Minokoshi, Y. Ito, H. Waki, S. Uchida, S. Yamashita, M. Noda, S. Kita, K. Ueki, K. Eto, Y. Akanuma, P. Froguel, F. Foufelle, P. Ferre, D. Carling, S. Kimura, R. Nagai, B.B. Kahn, T. Kadowaki, Adiponectin

stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase, Nat. Med 8 (2002) 1288–1295.

- [101] J.E. Young, R.A. Martinez, A.R. La Spada, Nutrient deprivation induces neuronal autophagy and implicates reduced insulin signaling in neuroprotective autophagy activation, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 2363–2373.
- [102] J.S. Yoon, M.R. Mughal, MP. Mattson, Energy restriction negates NMDA receptor antagonist efficacy in ischemic stroke, Neuromolecular Med. 13 (3) (2011) 175–178 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12017-011-8145-y. Epub 2011 Jun 10.
- [103] Z.F. Yu, M.P. Mattson, Dietary restriction and 2-deoxyglucose administration reduce focal ischemic brain damage and improve behavioral outcome:

evidence for a preconditioning mechanism, J. Neurosci. Res. 57 (1999) 830–839.

- [104] M. Zhou, A. Xu, P.K.H. Tam, K.S.L. Lam, L. Chan, R.L.C. Hoo, J. Liu, K.H.M. Chow, Y. Wang, Mitochondrial dysfunction contributes to the increased vulnerabilities of adiponectin knockout mice to liver injury, Hepatology 48 (2008) 1087–1096.
- [105] H. Zhu, Q. Guo, M.P. Mattson, Dietary restriction protects hippocampal neurons against the death-promoting action of a presenilin-1 mutation, Brain. Res. 842 (1999) 224–229.